2011

## Lori Blum v. Ranier Dahl : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS**

This is an Appeal from a Final Judgment and a Final Order/Minute Entry of the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, the honorable Robin W. Reese presiding. Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) (1953 as amended) and Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL AND STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW**

**Issue No. 1:** Did the trial court err in awarding attorney's fees to Defendant for Plaintiff's alleged bad faith when it approved a stipulation that the issue of bad faith would be decided by post-trial affidavit, but then disregarded its own order and used trial evidence in making its determination of bad faith?

**Standard of Review:** An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions, as in whether the court followed the terms of a stipulation, for correctness. *Lloyd v. Lloyd*, 2009 UT App 314, ¶ 6, 221 P.3d 884 (whether or not the trial court followed the terms of a stipulation is a question of law). See *Zions First Nat'l Bank, N.A. v. National Am. Title Ins. Co.*, 749 P.2d 651, 653 (Utah 1988) (questions of contract interpretation are matters of law); *Coalville City v. Lundgren*, 930 P.2d 1206, 1209 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (stipulations are construed as contracts). This issue was preserved in the trial court through Plaintiff's objections to the trial court's orders that relied on evidence presented at trial to determine the issue of bad faith. (R. 666, 728, 730, 747).

**Issue No. 2:** Is there legally sufficient evidence in the record to find bad faith where, pursuant to the court-approved stipulation, the only evidence permitted to be considered and which was submitted regarding Plaintiff's subjective state of mind was filed by Plaintiff and described her good faith?

**Standard of Review:** An appellate court reviews factual questions, as in a finding of bad faith, under a clearly erroneous standard. *Still Standing Stable, LLC, v. Allen*, 2005 UT 46, ¶ 8, 122 P.3d 556 (trial court's finding of bad faith a factual question reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard); *In re Sonnenreich*, 2004 UT 3, ¶ 45, 86 P.3d 712 (same). This issue was preserved in the trial court through Plaintiff's objections to the trial court's orders challenging the sufficiency of the trial court's finding of bad faith because it relied on evidence presented at trial to determine the issue of bad faith when, pursuant to the court-approved stipulation, it was to consider only post-trial affidavits and memoranda. (R. 666, 728, 730, 747). Also, because this issue on appeal is an appeal of

the factual sufficiency of the trial court's finding of bad faith, which is a question of fact, this issue presented on appeal was preserved via timely filing of the Notice of Appeal. (R. 764).

**Issue No.3:** Even if the court-approved stipulation does not bar consideration of other evidence in the record for determining bad faith, does the record contain legally sufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding of bad faith?

**Standard of Review:** An appellate court reviews factual questions, as in the finding of bad faith, under a clearly erroneous standard. *Still Standing Stable, LLC*, 2005 UT 46, ¶ 8 (trial court's finding of bad faith a factual question reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard); *In re Sonnenreich*, 2004 UT 3, ¶ 45, 86 P.3d 712 (same). This issue was preserved in the trial court through Plaintiff's objections to the trial court's orders challenging the sufficiency of the trial court's finding of bad faith. (R. 666, 728, 730, 747). Also, because this issue on appeal is an appeal of the factual sufficiency of the trial court's finding of bad faith, which is a question of fact, this issue presented on appeal was preserved via timely filing of the Notice of Appeal. (R. 764).

### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES**

The following Constitutional provisions, Statutes and Rules are relevant to this Appeal.

#### Statutes:

1. Utah Code Annotated § 78B-5-825(1) (1953 as amended).

(1) In civil actions, the court shall award reasonable attorney fees to a prevailing party if the court determines that the action or defense to the action was without merit and not brought or asserted in good faith, except under Subsection (2).

2. Utah Code Annotated § 78A-4-103(2)(j)

(2) The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over:

(j) cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court.

Rules:

1. Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 3(a)

(a) Filing appeal from final orders and judgments. An appeal may be taken from a district or juvenile court to the appellate court with jurisdiction over the appeal from all final orders and judgments, except as otherwise provided by law, by filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the trial court within the time allowed by Rule

4. Failure of an appellant to take any step other than the timely filing of a notice of appeal does not affect the validity of the appeal, but is ground only for such action as the appellate court deems appropriate, which may include dismissal of the appeal or other sanctions short of dismissal, as well as the award of attorney fees.

2. Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(9)

(a)(9) An argument. The argument shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, including the grounds for reviewing any issue not preserved in the trial court, with citations to the authorities, statutes,

and parts of the record relied on. A party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding. A party seeking to recover attorney's fees incurred on appeal shall state the request explicitly and set forth the legal basis for such an award.

### 3. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a)

(a) Effect. In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon, and judgment shall be entered pursuant to Rule 58A; in granting or refusing interlocutory injunctions the court shall similarly set forth the findings of fact and conclusions of law which constitute the grounds of its action. Requests for findings are not necessary for purposes of review. Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses. The findings of a master, to the extent that the court adopts them, shall be considered as the findings of the court. It will be sufficient if the findings of fact and conclusions of law are stated orally and recorded in open court following the close of the evidence or appear in an opinion or memorandum of decision filed by the court. The trial court need not enter findings of fact and conclusions of law in rulings on motions, except as provided in Rule 41(b). The court shall, however, issue a brief written statement of the ground for its decision on all motions granted under Rules 12(b), 50(a) and (b), 56, and 59 when the motion is based on more than one ground.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an award of attorney's fees against Ms. Blum in an action for assault and battery brought by Ms. Lori Blum, appellant, against Mr. Ranier Dahl, appellee. Mr. Dahl prevailed at trial. After the trial, the court found that Ms. Blum's claim was meritless and was brought in bad faith and it thus awarded attorney's fees to Mr. Dahl against Ms. Blum.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Ms. Blum is a small, 5 foot 1 inch tall, 119 pound, 76 year old nurse who specializes in pediatrics, and who likes to babysit her grandchildren and tutor her down-syndrome granddaughter in speaking, reading, and writing. (R. 162; R. 774:85).

2. Ms. Blum co-owns a condominium at the Park at Gateway, 5 South 500 West, Salt Lake City, Utah. (R. 774:103).

3. After a meeting of the Condominium Association at the Park at Gateway on October 10<sup>th</sup>, 2006, Mr. Dahl, who was president of the Association at the time, made vulgar and insulting comments to Ms. Blum's daughter. (R. 774:92-93; R. 2, ¶¶ 7-8; R. 310, ¶¶ 7-8).

4. After her daughter told her about the insulting comments, Ms. Blum approached Mr. Dahl to ask him not to talk to Ms. Blum's daughter that way. (R. 774:93-94; R. 2, ¶ 9; R. 310, ¶ 9).

5. As she attempted to speak with him, Ms. Blum maintained that Mr. Dahl lunged at her, shouted at her, and spit on her. (R. 774:94-95; R. 582, ¶ 5, Exhibit A; R. 2-3, ¶¶ 10-16; R. 310-311, ¶¶ 10-17).

6. As a result of the incident, one of the witnesses in the case who viewed the incident, Mr. Falcone, advised Mr. Dahl to file a police report against Ms. Cleveland regarding what he viewed to be an assault by Ms. Cleveland against Mr. Dahl that occurred during the same incident between Ms. Blum and Mr. Dahl. (R. 183, Exhibit A; R. 774:191).

7. After the incident, Ms. Blum was allegedly the target of harassment, discrimination, and hostility from numerous persons including the homeowner's association and the management company for the condominium building. (R. 543–545, Exhibit E; R. 774:114–116, 118, 121–124; R. 185–186, 190–192, Exhibit A; R. 276–279, ¶¶ 5–29, Exhibit A; R. 283, ¶¶ 21–25, Exhibit B).

8. In part, Mr. Dahl, through his position as president of the board of directors of the homeowners' association and his influence with the management company, harassed her by enforcing alleged rule violations against her and her daughter while ignoring the same violations by her neighbors, as well as alleging rule violations when none existed, such as charging her late fees on her rent when she had paid on time. (R. 774:98–99; R. 775:25–29; R. 311–314, ¶¶ 18, 24–34, 42; R. 282–283, ¶¶ 13–25, Exhibit B; R. 276–279, ¶¶ 5–29, Exhibit A).

9. He also spoke badly of her to others in the complex and on the board of directors of the Homeowners Association. (R. 775:98–99; R. 312, ¶¶ 24, 30–32; R. 282–283, ¶¶ 13–25, Exhibit B; R. 278, ¶¶ 16–19, Exhibit A).

10. After the initial confrontation with Mr. Dahl, where he shouted and lunged at her, Ms. Blum suffered fear and severe emotional distress. (R. 774:98–99; R. 584, ¶¶ 18–22, Exhibit A; R. 311, 313–314, ¶¶ 19–21, 41, 48; R. 161–162, ¶¶ 11–12).

11. Because of the incident and her resulting fear and distress, Ms. Blum attempted to sell her condominium. Although she was ultimately unsuccessful in doing so, she incurred costs of \$3,300 to list and stage the condominium. (R. 774:98–99, 149–150; R. 584, ¶ 19, Exhibit A).

12. She also restricted her visits to her condominium to about once per month because she feared meeting Mr. Dahl again. (R. 584, ¶¶ 20–21, Exhibit A; R. 311, ¶¶ 20–22; R. 279, ¶¶ 24–26, Exhibit A).

13. This continued until Ms. Blum learned that Mr. Dahl had moved from the premises, whereupon Ms. Blum resumed her former habit of spending about half of each week at her condominium. (R. 774:86; R. 584, ¶ 22, Exhibit A; R. 311, ¶ 23; R. 279, ¶¶ 24, 27–28).

14. During the course of the events, Ms. Blum sought legal advice to discover if she had a case against Mr. Dahl for his actions. (R. 583, ¶¶ 6–9, Exhibit A)

15. The first lawyer she spoke with advised her to find a civil attorney and file a case against Mr. Dahl. (R. 583, ¶ 6, Exhibit A).

16. Further, the civil lawyer she hired advised her that her case had merit and that she should proceed with an action against Mr. Dahl. (R. 583, ¶ 9, Exhibit A; R. 587, Exhibit 1).

17. Based upon this advice, Ms. Blum sued Mr. Dahl for \$200,000 for assault and battery based upon the shouting and spitting incident. (R. 583, ¶¶ 9–10, Exhibit A; R. 3–4, ¶¶ 18–26; R. 313–314, ¶¶ 35–44).

18. After she initiated the lawsuit, Ms. Blum received an offer of settlement from counsel for Mr. Dahl. She did not accept the offer. However, the offer reinforced her belief in the strength of her case, as did a later deposition of Mr. Dahl. (R. 583, ¶¶ 11–14, Exhibit A; R. 563; R. 589, Exhibit 2).

19. Subsequently, during a deposition, Mr. Dahl admitted that he was upset while speaking with Ms. Blum, and admitted that it was possible that he spit on her some time during their interaction. (R. 583, ¶ 14, Exhibit A).

20. Ms. Blum’s original complaint plead damages for harassment and discrimination that Ms. Blum allegedly suffered from Mr. Dahl’s use of his position of authority at the head of the homeowner’s association “to exert undue pressure and influence upon” Ms. Blum and her daughter. (R. 4, ¶ 25).

21. The trial court correctly dismissed these claims for damages because Ms. Blum’s original counsel, Mr. Brown pled them poorly. (R. 1–5; 248–249).

22. Ms. Blum was unaware of the deficiencies in her pleadings until Mr. Dahl filed the motion for summary judgment which led to the dismissal of her damages claims for harassment and discrimination. (R. 566; R. 248–249).

23. After the ruling, Ms. Blum first became aware that the pleading that had been filed on her behalf only included facts regarding the incident in which Mr. Dahl had shouted at her. (R. 566).

24. After the ruling, Ms. Blum retained new counsel to handle the case. (R. 252A–253).

25. Immediately upon retaining new counsel, Ms. Blum motioned to postpone the trial and amend her pleadings to include the subsequent events, and add other causes of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress, defamation, and false light, to address the harassment and discrimination she allegedly suffered. However, because of the late date, the court denied her motion to amend. (R. 253, 263; R. 314-316, ¶¶ 45-63; R. 430)

26. At the beginning of the trial, Ms. Blum and Mr. Dahl agreed that if Mr. Dahl decided to pursue the matter of bad faith and attorney's fees, the trial court judge would determine it based on post-trial affidavits and memoranda submitted by both parties, and the court so ordered. (R. 774:5–6, 15–18).

27. The stipulation was agreed upon and ordered because the trial court was initially concerned that addressing the issue of bad faith at trial could distract the jury “from the real issues” and confuse their minds. (R. 774:6, 16–17).

28. The trial court did not want the issue of bad faith even “on the table” because “just the power of suggestion” could lead the jury to punish Ms. Blum for her disputed position in bringing the lawsuit. (R. 774:17).

29. The trial court concluded that it was best to leave the entirety of the issue of bad faith until the end of the trial, to be decided by post-trial affidavits. (R. 774:6, 16–17).

30. Both parties understood that evidence of bad faith was not permitted during trial, and that the trial court would leave the entirety of the issue of bad faith and attorney's fees until the end of the trial, to be decided by affidavits. (R. 774:6, 16–17)

31. Mr. Dahl's counsel referred to the stipulation as creating "essentially a bifurcated trial." (R. 774:17).

32. Following the trial, the trial court relied heavily upon testimony presented at trial, instead of relying solely on post-trial affidavits, which trial evidence he believed justified a finding that Ms. Blum brought the case in bad faith. (R. 756–759, ¶¶ 18–31).

33. At trial, the court issued a summary judgment against Ms. Blum on the issue of battery, and the jury found against her on the issue of assault. (R. 775:4, 56).

34. In obeying the court-approved stipulation, Ms. Blum refrained from presenting evidence at trial showing her good faith, and from cross-examining Mr. Dahl's witnesses regarding her motive in bringing the case. (R. 774:5–6, 8, 15–18, 80).

35. After the trial, Mr. Dahl motioned for an award of attorney's fees based upon Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56 [Renumbered as § 78B-5-825]. "In civil actions, the court shall award reasonable attorney fees to a prevailing party if the court determines that the action or defense to the action was without merit and not brought or asserted in good faith..." Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-825. (R. 775:58; R. 510).

36. Ms. Blum submitted an affidavit to the trial court regarding her good faith in pursuing the action. (R. 582, Exhibit A).

37. Mr. Dahl declined to submit any such memorandum or affidavit, nor did he request an evidentiary hearing, nor attempt to cross-examine Ms. Blum on the facts she submitted in her affidavit.

38. In the final judgment, the trial court found that the lawsuit of the non-prevailing party, Ms. Blum, was meritless, and therefore concluded that it had been filed in bad faith. (R. 758–759, ¶ 30; R. 750–751).

39. The trial court based its conclusion of bad faith on evidence presented at trial, despite the fact that, pursuant to the stipulation, the issue of bad faith and attorney's fees was to be decided by post-trial affidavits and memoranda. (R. 756–759, ¶¶ 18–31; R. 750–751; R. 774:5–6, 15–18).

40. This case was decided at the trial court level for Mr. Dahl. Ms. Blum appeals.

### **ARGUMENT SUMMARY**

The trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees against Ms. Blum. A court may award attorney's fees against the non-prevailing party only if the court finds separately that: (1) the non-prevailing parties case lacked merit; and (2) the non-prevailing party brought the action in bad faith. (Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-825(1)).

First, both parties stipulated, and the trial court ordered, that the trial court would decide the issue of bad faith based on the parties' affidavits submitted after the trial was over. The parties specifically stipulated, and the trial court ordered, that the entirety of the issue of bad faith would be determined based on affidavits and memoranda presented to the court post-trial, so neither party was to raise the issue nor present evidence of bad

faith during the trial. (R. 774:5–6, 8, 15–18, 80; R. 775:58–61). Nor would the trial court consider testimony from the trial to determine the issue of bad faith. (R. 774:5–6, 15–18). After the trial, and pursuant to the court-approved stipulation, Ms. Blum submitted an affidavit describing her good faith in bringing the lawsuit. (R. 582–585, Exhibit A). After Ms. Blum filed her affidavit, the trial court disregarded the stipulation of the parties and its own order by relying on testimony from trial to decide the issue of bad faith. (R. 756–758). Doing so was legally improper and is reversible error under Utah law. *Lloyd v. Lloyd*, 2009 UT App 314, ¶¶ 7, 11, 221 P.3d 884 (citation omitted).

Second, there is no legally sufficient evidence in the record to support the trial court’s finding of bad faith. To find bad faith, there must be evidence that the non-prevailing party brought the suit lacking of an honest belief in the propriety of her actions, intending to take unconscionable advantage of others, or intending to or knowing that her actions would hinder, delay, or defraud another. E.g., *Chipman v. Miller*, 934 P.2d 1158, 1163 (Utah Ct.App.1997); *Still Standing Stable, LLC, v. Allen*, 2005 UT 46, ¶ 11, 122 P.3d 556. The record does not affirmatively establish that Ms. Blum was lacking at least one of the good faith factors because, pursuant to the court-approved stipulation, the only evidence permitted to be submitted and which was submitted regarding bad faith was Ms. Blum’s post-trial affidavit that described her good faith. Additionally, even if this Court disregards the trial court’s stipulation and considers the evidence in the record besides just Ms. Blum’s post-trial affidavit, the record still does not affirmatively establish that Ms. Blum was lacking at least one of the three good faith factors at the time of bringing the lawsuit. More specifically, even after marshaling all evidence that could

support the trial court's finding of bad faith, there is a fatal flaw in the evidence such that it is legally insufficient to support the trial court's finding of bad faith because the evidence instead supports a finding of lack of merit and credibility, or cannot properly be considered to find bad faith against Ms. Blum because such use is an abuse of discretion.

Therefore, this Court should reverse the trial court's award of attorney's fees against Ms. Blum because the trial court disregarded the stipulation by using trial testimony in determining that Ms. Blum brought her action in bad faith. Additionally, the record does not contain legally sufficient facts to support the trial court's finding of bad faith. More specifically, there is legally insufficient evidence to affirmatively establish that Ms. Blum lacked an honest belief in the propriety of her actions, intended to take unconscionable advantage of another, or intended or knew that she would be hindering, delaying, or defrauding another. *Chipman*, 934 P.2d at 1163.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES TO DEFENDANT WHEN IT APPROVED A STIPULATION BY ORDER THAT THE ISSUE OF BAD FAITH WOULD BE DECIDED BY POST-TRIAL AFFIDAVITS, BUT THEN DISREGARDED ITS OWN ORDER AND USED TRIAL EVIDENCE IN DETERMINING THAT MS. BLUM BROUGHT THIS LAWSUIT IN BAD FAITH.**

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