2011

Lori Blum v. Rainer Dahl : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. Nothing could evince bad faith more than a plaintiff who sues a defendant for something the plaintiff knew never happened. Ms. Blum sued Mr. Dahl, claiming assault and battery, for allegedly spitting on her. In fact, every witness called at trial, save Ms. Blum only, testified unequivocally that Mr. Dahl never spat on, nor acted in any manner threatening toward, Ms. Blum. Rather, the witnesses each testified that it was Ms. Blum who confronted and acted aggressively toward Mr. Dahl, who remained remarkably calm under the circumstances. Nevertheless, Ms. Blum sued Mr. Dahl because, as she testified, she was unhappy with the way she and her daughter, Catherine Cleveland, were being treated by their homeowners association, of which Mr. Dahl was president at the time. Because our system of justice cannot tolerate plaintiffs fabricating allegations to support a retaliatory lawsuit, and because there is no merit to the other errors alleged by Ms. Blum on appeal, this Court should affirm the trial court's judgment and order.

2. This Court should not consider the merits of Ms. Blum's appeal because she has failed to marshal the evidence supporting the very findings with which she takes issue. First, Ms. Blum has failed to marshal all the evidence confirming the parameters of the trial court's ruling on the presentation of evidence of bad faith, including a written transcript of the ruling itself. Second, Ms. Blum has failed to marshal all the overwhelming evidence demonstrating the untruthfulness of Ms. Blum's factual allegations, which bears not only on the meritless nature of her lawsuit, but also on the lack of good faith in bringing the same.

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly awarded Mr. Dahl his attorney fees because there was significant evidence supporting the trial court's finding that Ms. Blum brought her frivolous lawsuit against Mr. Dahl in bad faith. Utah Code section 78B-5-825 provides: "In civil actions, the court *shall* award reasonable attorney fees to a prevailing party if the court determines that the action . . . was without merit and not brought . . . in good faith" UTAH CODE ANN. 78B-5-825 (emphasis added). The trial court's finding regarding bad faith should not be disturbed on appeal unless it is "clearly erroneous." *Still Standing Stable*, 2005 UT 46, ¶ 8. As set forth below, far from clearly erring, the trial court properly awarded Mr. Dahl his attorney fees and costs in light of the overwhelming evidence showing bad faith on Ms. Blum's part. Regardless, there is no need for the Court of Appeals to even reach the merits of this issue, as Ms. Blum as failed to marshal critical evidence supporting the trial court's findings in this regard.

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT MS. BLUM BROUGHT HER LAWSUIT IN BAD FAITH.

The evidence in this case fully supports the trial court's finding that Ms. Blum brought her lawsuit in bad faith. The Utah Supreme Court has held that a "party acts in bad faith" whenever he brings an action where he "(1) lacks an honest belief in the propriety of the activities in question, (2) intends to take unconscionable advantage of others, *or* (3) intends to or has knowledge of the fact that his actions will hinder, delay, or defraud others." *Wardley Better Homes and Gardens v. Cannon*, 2002 UT 99, ¶ 29, 61 P.3d 1009 (emphasis

added) (citing *Cady v. Johnson*, 671 P.2d at 151). The Utah Court of Appeals has further held that bad faith is also properly found where a party testifies untruthfully. See *Gallegos*, 2008 UT App 40, ¶ 17. The evidence in this case supports the trial court's finding of bad faith under both the *Wardley* and the *Gallegos* decisions.

A. Ms. Blum lacked an honest belief in the propriety of her lawsuit.

Wardley establishes that a plaintiff may not bring a claim he or she knows has no basis in fact. In *Wardley*, a real estate brokerage agency sued another brokerage agency to recover real estate commissions. The defendant prevailed at trial in light of clearly established law showing that the plaintiff's claims had no merit. *Id.* at ¶ 29. Nevertheless, the trial court denied the defendant's motion for fees, finding it would be "inequitable" to award fees. *Id.* at ¶ 31. The Utah Supreme Court reversed, finding that *Wardley* "lacked an honest belief in the propriety of bringing a suit to collect a commission" because it "kn[ew] that it did not have a legal right to a commission." *Id.* at ¶ 29. The Court further ruled that, because *Wardley* knew the facts of the case did not support its claims, it was "deemed to have known that its unjustified action against [the defendant] would hinder, delay, or defraud by causing [the defendant] to spend resources in [its] defense." *Id.*; see also *Boyer v. Boyer*, 2008 UT App 138, ¶ 24, 183 P.3d 1068 (holding an action is in good faith "*as long as there is an honest belief that it is appropriate and as long as there is no intent to hinder, delay, defraud, or take advantage of the other party.*") (emphasis added).

Like *Wardley*, the evidence in this case establishes that Ms. Blum could not have had an honest belief in the propriety of her lawsuit because she herself knew the alleged conduct forming the basis of her claims never occurred. As the trial court found,

every person called as a witness at trial who was in a position to observe to any degree the alleged interactions between Mr. Dahl and Ms. Blum following the homeowners association meeting contradicted and flatly rejected Ms. Blum's claims that Mr. Dahl acted in a threatening, intimidating or otherwise inappropriate manner toward Ms. Blum. Instead, they testified, that it was Ms. Blum, in fact, who had been the aggressor toward Mr. Dahl, who had remained "surprisingly calm" throughout the incident.

R. 758 at ¶ 27. The evidence in this case amply supports these findings.

The following are brief excerpts from the testimony of the six witnesses referenced by the court. The first was Nick Falcone Sr., a retired school teacher and the father of one of the homeowners association's board members. R. 774 at 158:11–159:6. Mr. Falcone Sr. testified as follows:

Q. Okay. Did you ever observed Mr. Dahl jumping at or leaping at Ms. Blum?

A. Never once.

Q. Did you ever observe Mr. Dahl waving his arms in a threatening manner towards Ms. Blum?

A. Never. Never at all.

Q. Did you observe Mr. Dahl spitting on Ms. Blum?

A. I was within inches. If he had done that, I would have seen it. He did not spit ever.

Q. Okay. Did you observe Mr. Dahl screaming or yelling at Ms. Blum?

A. Very calm. No. He did not ever say anything above just a plain normal talk.

R. 774 at 162:1–12.⁴

The second witness was Nola Falcone, also a retired school teacher and Mr. Falcone Sr.'s wife. R. 774 at 171:4–11, 17–23. Mrs. Falcone testified as follows:

Q. Okay. Did you ever observe Mr. Dahl lunge at either woman during the course of this conversation that you were watching?

A. Never.

Q. Did you observe him leap at either of these women during this conversation?

A. Never.

Q. Did you observe him waving his arms?

A. Never.

Q. Did you observe him spit on either of these women?

A. Absolutely not.

Q. Did you—how would you describe Mr.—I'll call him Ranier, as you know him. How would you describe Ranier's demeanor during the course of this conversation with these two women?

A. I thought very patient. I thought very, very patient because I don't know if I could have stood there and taken the abuse that I saw him taking.

R. 774 at 177:10–178:2.

⁴ All trial transcript excerpts directly quoted in this brief are included in the Supplemental Addendum attached hereto.

The third witness was Nick Falcone Jr., a criminal defense attorney with the Salt Lake Legal Defender's office and one of the members of the board. R. 774 at 183:11–24. Mr. Falcone Jr. testified as follows:

Q. Okay. Do you recall during the course of these events following the meeting any time where Ranier Dahl lunged at either Catherine or Lori?

A. No. As a matter of fact—

R. 774 at 188:6–9.

Q. Did you observe Mr. Dahl at any time wave his arms in a threatening manner toward either Catherine or Lori?

A. No, just the opposite. He was—Catherine assaulted Ranier by poking him in the face with her finger. He was controlling himself—

MR. ASCIONE: Again, objection, your Honor. I don't think that that's what the question was.

THE COURT: Yeah, That's probably not responsive, Counsel.

R. 774 at 188:16–24.

Q. Did you see Mr. Dahl at any time spit at either Catherine or Lori?

A. Absolutely not.

Q. Okay. As I—did you see him do any kind of action, engage in any sort of conduct that was threatening in nature?

A. He was frozen there. He would make—he would say—she would make an accusation, he'd state, "No, that's not right. That's not what I said," and then she would start screaming at him again, but at no time did I ever see him do more than respond like that.

Q. Okay. How would you—you've kind of answered this already, but just to be clear, how would you describe Mr. Dahl's demeanor during this conversation he was having with Catherine and Lori?

A. Well, surprisingly calm and collected.

R. 774 at 190:12–191:1.

The fourth witness was Becky Wheeler, one of the two owners of the homeowners association's former management company. R. 774 at 215:1–13. Mrs. Wheeler testified as follows:

Q. Okay. Let me ask you as you observed this conversation between Mr. Blum—Ms. Blum and Mr. Dahl, did you notice Mr. Dahl acting in a threatening manner toward Ms. Blum at any point in time?

A. No, not at all, not threatening at all.

Q. Ms. Blum has alleged that Mr. Dahl, quote, “lunged at her, elbows out, face to face, and spit on her as she screamed—as he screamed.” Did you observe any of that behavior?

A. No, not at all. As a matter of fact, that's why I probably couldn't—I didn't really hear the conversation. He was very soft in his voice.

Q. Did you see—was he flailing his arms or—

A. Very calm. Very calm.

Q. Did you ever see him lunge at Ms. Blum?

A. No.

R. 774 at 218:16–219:5.

The fifth witness was Jeff Wheeler, Mrs. Wheeler's husband and the other co-owner of the association's former management company. R. 774 at 232:8–15. Mr. Wheeler testified as follows:

Q. Okay. Did you notice anything during this time in the hallway that—did you notice Mr. Dahl acting contrary to the professionalism and the good nature that you had observed prior to that time?

A. You know, actually not. It was a very tense meeting that night, and I thought he had, you know, fairly good composure considering how heated that meeting was at times.

Q. Okay. Again, directing your attention after the meeting and in this hallway, did you ever notice Mr. Dahl leap at or lunge at Ms. Blum in any way?

A. I didn't see that personally, no.

Q. Okay. Did you ever see him intentionally spit on her to strike her or do anything threatening toward her?

A. No, I did not.

R. 774 at 234:2–15.

The sixth and final percipient witness called was Sam Bell, the homeowners association's former attorney. R. 774 at 243:9–17. Mr. Bell testified as follows:

Q. Okay. Were you continuing to observe this conversation as it was occurring?

A. Yes.

Q. How would you describe Ms. Blum's demeanor during this conversation?

A. Well, Ms. Blum was upset that Ranier would call her daughter a name.

Q. How would you describe Mr. Dahl's demeanor?

A. I was surprised by how calm he was. I mean it had been a fairly tense night. He was being accused of saying something that he said he didn't say. I was quite—I was impressed by how calm he was.

Q. Did you ever see—well, let me just say, Ms. Blum has alleged that Mr. Dahl, quote, “lunged at her, elbows out, face to face and spit on Ms. Blum as he screamed.” Did you observe any of that kind of conduct?

A. Not that I recall, no.

Q. Did you ever see—and I just want to break it down for you. Did you ever see Mr. Dahl lunge or leap at Ms. Blum?

A. No.

Q. Let's just include Ms. Cleveland in that, just so we're covered. Did you see him lunge or leap at any person that night?

A. No. No, if I remember, his back was to a wall or to a window in the hallway, and I don't—

Q. Did you ever see him extend his elbows or move his arms in a threatening manner toward Ms. Blum?

A. No, nothing that I noted.

Q. Did you ever see him spit on Ms. Blum?

A. Like intentionally spit on her?

Q. Intentionally spit on her.

A. No.

Q. Did you ever see him, for lack of a better term, accidentally spit on her? You know how sometimes people—you know, saliva sometimes comes out of someone's mouth when they're speaking. Did you ever see that?

A. No.

Q. Did you observe at any point whether Mr. Dahl got in Ms. Blum's face so to speak?

A. No. No, they were fairly close, but like I said, his back was to the wall.

Q. Did you observe whether or not—I mean how did they get close together? Was—did Ms. Blum approach him or did Mr. Dahl approach Ms. Blum?

A. Ms. Blum approached him.

Q. Okay. Just finally, did you see Mr. Dahl act in a threatening manner in any fashion toward Ms. Blum or her daughter while in the hallway that evening?

A. No. Like I said, he was I thought surprisingly calm under the circumstances.

R. 774 at 246:13–248:11.

Just like these witnesses, Ms. Blum herself, being a participant in this encounter, would have known that there was no truth to her allegations. As the trial court found, Ms. Blum all but conceded this fact when she testified that the reason she brought her lawsuit was not to right a wrong allegedly perpetrated by Mr. Dahl, but to put an end to what she considered to be harassment on the part of the homeowners association and its management company. R. 758 at ¶¶ 28–29.

Like the trial court's other findings, there was ample evidence establishing this ulterior, and retaliatory, motive. For example, Ms. Blum's testimony included the following:

Q. Okay. Whey [sic] did you file a complaint in this case?

A. Well, when did I file the complaint?

Q. Why?

A. Why? I just wanted them to leave us alone. I just wanted them to shut up and leave us alone and quit persecuting us.

R. 774 at 99:16–21.

Q. BY MR. HOOLE: Do you recall a time—you do recall a time, don't you, Ms. Blum, when the homeowner's association's attorney wrote you a letter and stated—and demanded that because of a number of different rules violations in which your daughter was engaged that you needed to evict her as a tenant?

A. I don't think it was a number of violations.

Q. Do you recall that they wanted you to evict her?

A. I recall that I got that letter, yes.

R. 774 at 105:4–11.

Q. BY MR. HOOLE: Now Mr. Dahl was the president of the management—of the homeowner's association when this eviction demand was sent out, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. All right [sic]. You obviously weren't very happy to receive a demand from the homeowner's association telling you you needed to evict your daughter, correct?

A. The demand came from the attorney.

Q. Who represented the homeowner's association, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. That didn't make you very happy, did it?

A. Of course not.

Q. Of course not. You perceived in your own mind, at least, didn't you that Mr. Dahl had some role in requesting the attorney to demand that you evict your daughter?

A. I don't know what I thought at that time.

Q. Well, didn't you previously testify at your deposition that Mr. Dahl—that you thought Mr. Dahl had some sort of role in what you perceived to be harassment and discrimination being meted out against you and your daughter?

A. I thought Mr. Dahl had a very powerful position and that his influence permeated through the building.

R. 774 at 107:19–108:15.

Q. All right [sic]. The letter goes on to address the charges that were brought against your daughter for public intoxication at the meeting October 10, 2006, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. That would be in the paragraph 2 there. This was the same night that the alleged assault occurred, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. All right [sic]. This was just one of four charges that Salt Lake City brought against your daughter for her conduct on that night?

A. Yes.

Q. You felt that Mr. Dahl was singling out your daughter for prosecution, correct?

A. Yes, because wine was served generally at the meeting.

R. 774 at 121:25–122:13.

Q. All right [sic]. Now even after you sent this letter the management company didn't stop enforcing the condominium rules with respect to your daughter, did they?

A. I think we continued to be harassed.

Q. When you say you continued to be harassed, what you mean by that is you continued to receive rules violation notices from the homeowner's association's management company; isn't that correct?

A. Well, for instance, one time we –

Q. Ms. Blum, Ms. Blum, again, I'm just asking yes or no questions. If there's something that needs to be expanded upon your attorney is here to protect your interest and he will make sure you have that opportunity. My question is you -- when you say harassment you're talking about letters that you received from the management company regarding rules violations, correct?

A. Alleged rules violations.

R. 774 at 123:22–124:12.

Q. All right [sic]. So when the homeowner's association—pardon me. When the management company wouldn't stop sending notices with respect to various rules violations—

A. Alleged.

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